Not approved until next meeting
 LIBERTY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

January 8, 2019	Meeting Summary	7:00 p.m.

I.	Call to Order 

The Liberty Planning and Zoning Commission met on Tuesday, January 8, 2019, in the Council Chambers, City Hall, 101 East Kansas Street. A quorum being present, Chairman Rosekrans called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

II.	Roll Call

Commission members in attendance were: Rick Boswell, Judy Dilts, Patricia Evans, Walt Holt, Amy Howard, Ken Personett, Tom Reinier, Dee Rosekrans, and Ann Waterman.  Representing staff were Katherine Sharp, Director of Planning and Development; Andy Noll, Director of Public Works; Ben McCabe, Assistant Director of Public Works; and Michael Peterman, City Planner.  7 members of the public were in attendance.

III.	 Approval of Minutes

Chairman Rosekrans asked if there were any questions or comments related to the minutes from the last meeting, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Commissioner Evans moved to approve the minutes from the December 11, 2018 meeting and Commissioner Waterman seconded the motion. The minutes were approved 8-0-1 (Commissioner Personett abstained).

IV.        Election of Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson.

Chairman Rosekrans stated that he wants to give the opportunity for a new person to Chair the meetings. 

Commissioner Holt made a motion to re-elect Dee Rosekrans as the Chairman and Commissioner Evans                        seconded the motion which was approved 8 - 0 - 1 (Chairman Rosekrans abstained).

Commissioner Waterman nominated Tom Reinier as Vice-Chair and Commissioner Evans seconded the motion which was approved 8 - 0 - 1 (Commissioner Reinier abstained).

V.	19-01SUP:  Special Use Permit for 210 Storage, a proposed outdoor storage of vehicles and trailers at 1520 Old 210 Hwy [Public Hearing]

Mr. Peterman presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Commissioner Personett asked how important it is that the vehicles are road ready.

Mr. Peterman said that the vehicles must be able to be moved quickly because the project is in the floodplain.

Mr. McCabe stated that this is a requirement per FEMA regulations.

Commissioner Personett asked how this requirement will be enforced.

Mr. McCabe stated that staff would perform periodic inspections.

Commissioner Reinier requested an explanation of a “No-Rise Certificate”.

Mr. McCabe said that it is certification by a professional that the activity proposed in the floodplain will not cause an increase in flood elevation.

Commissioner Reinier asked if the City was at any greater risk because of this development.

Mr. McCabe said that the vehicles being road ready and the canopy being open sided meets the requirements of FEMA.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if there were any legal requirements for the owner to disclose to the clients that the property is in the floodplain.

Mr. McCabe said that he was unaware of any requirements.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any additional questions of staff.  Seeing none he asked if the applicant would like to speak.

Aimee Gray, A3G Architects, 110 North Main St. Liberty, project architect, said that the road ready requirement was in the lease agreement and that they can amend the lease agreement to add the notice of floodplain if needed.  She was available for any other questions.

Chairman Rosekrans opened the Public Hearing portion for this case. He asked if anyone in the audience wished to speak, seeing none he closed the public hearing.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any further questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Personett moved to approve the case.   Commissioner Howard seconded the motion.

Vote: Motion passed 7-1-1
Yes: Boswell, Dilts, Evans, Howard, Personett, Rosekrans and Waterman
No:  Reinier
Abstain: Holt (Recused himself due to potential conflict of interest)

Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on January 28, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.

VI.	18-30R&PP:  Rezoning and Preliminary Plat for Ella’s Crossing.  Rezone to R-1C for 52 single family lots on 17.58 acres at 1023 -1039 Route H and associated variances  [Public Hearing]

Mr. Peterman presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Commissioner Holt asked what improvements would be required on Route H.

Mr. McCabe said that widening, sidewalks and grading to create swale for stormwater were all required improvements.

Commissioner Holt said that the way it is proposed by the applicant would mean the City would never have the required improvements on the section of road adjacent to the development. 

Mr. McCabe said that was correct.

Commissioner Personett stated that this was similar to the St. James Church project where the City required the applicant to install the sidewalks that were deferred when they developed a certain part of the project.

Commissioner Dilts asked if Route H is wide enough to accommodate turn lanes without widening the road.

Ms. Sharp replied that if turn lanes are installed, the road will need to be widened.

Commissioner Dilts asked if a traffic study was done to see the effect on the intersection to William Jewel College.  Will the extra traffic require any changes at that location? 

Ms. Sharp said a traffic study was submitted which indicated that the average daily trips at the entrance to the subdivision and the college did not warrant a turn lane or other changes there.

Commissioner Dilts clarified that she was interested in the intersection at the college entrance, where there is a signal. 

Mr. McCabe said there was not a traffic study required at that location. 

Commissioner Dilts asked for clarification on the money from the fee in-lieu

Ms. Sharp said the fee-in-lieu of parkland dedication goes into one of 3 zones in the city to later be utilized in the purchasing of parkland within that zone.

Commissioner Dilts asked if there will be a pedestrian cross-walk connecting the east and west sides of the road. 

Ms. Sharp said no pedestrian crosswalk is proposed, however it could be discussed at the Commission meeting this evening and requested of the applicant at the final plat phase.

Commissioner Reinier stated that he was very uncomfortable with the buffer reduction variance request.  

Commissioner Dilts agreed with Commissioner Reinier.

Commissioner Holt asked about the requirement for landscaping in the area that the variance is being requested for the reduced buffer.

Ms. Sharp stated that a 50-100 foot buffer is required between single family residential zoning and commercial zoning.  This could be reduced to 50 foot if it was bermed and heavily landscaped.

Commissioner Boswell stated that the commercial exists but not yet built and it is possible the homes come in before the funeral home development.

Commissioner Dilts asked if the funeral home development was going to have a crematory.

Ms. Sharp said she did not know when construction would begin on the funeral home and that they did not have approval for a crematory at this time, and that it would require a special use permit.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any additional questions of staff.  Seeing none he asked if the applicant would like to speak.

Robert De La Fuente, Star Development, representing the developer, stated that they were excited for this development.  They planned on homes in the 350-425 thousand dollar range.  The largest hurdle for this project is bringing the sanitary sewer service to the property by boring under the railroad tracks. The development costs of this subdivision do not make it a certain success.  

In regards to the reduced buffer on the south property line, the burden is on the developer to sell those lots next to the commercial project.  It would be in the best interest of the homeowner to have a good buffer.  

Mr. De La Fuente provided a handout to the commission regarding the road improvements to Route H.   He stated that adding 1ft of pavement would not be a good option due to the difficulties it would present and it would not last very long.  He said that if necessary they would do it.  He stated that they would be agreeable to do the grading and sidewalk work on the southern portion of the property as noted in green on page 2 of the handout.  The northern portion of the improvements to Route H are not feasible and the development costs would make the project not financially viable. 

Commissioner Dilts asked for clarification on what the handout was and what the topography was like at the northern end of the site.

Mr. De La Fuente stated that the developer would be willing to do all the requested improvements in the green area if they could be relieved from doing them in the red area.

Art Aiken, AGC Engineers, 405 S Leonard St. Liberty, project engineer, described the topography of the entire project site.

Commissioner Boswell asked if there were plans for a cross walk across from Mabee Center at William Jewell.

Mr. De La Fuente stated that turn lanes and crosswalk was considered in early stages but was not warranted and not the best location at that intersection.

Commissioner Personett asked about the suggestion in the Variance Request letter about the loss of lots if the buffer variance was not approved.

Mr. Aiken stated that if the buffer variance was not approved then the lots that abutting the south property line would all have to be adjusted to meet R-1C requirements and could result in the loss of multiple lots in the subdivision.

Commissioner Holt asked if there were any examples in the city of residential next to commercial with this small of a buffer.

Mr. Aiken stated he did not know of any.  He said that the proposed commercial use of a funeral home is a low impact use and described that the impacts on the adjacent lots would be very minimal.  

Ms. Sharp stated that there is an example of this at Camelot Commons.

Chairman Rosekrans opened the Public Hearing portion for this case.  He asked if anyone in the audience wished to speak seeing none he closed the public hearing.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any further questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Holt moved to approve the case as presented with the variances.  Commissioner Waterman seconded the motion.

Commissioner Dilts asked for clarification on the proposed variance for Route H because that handout is different than what was sent in the report.

Mr. Noll stated that the proposal of turn lanes near the entrance to the Mabee Center was not warranted by the traffic study and is not part of staff’s recommendation.  He clarified that the 1 ft. extension to the road could be accomplished in safe and effective fashion and that staff does recommend that as part of the preferred option due to maintenance and safety factors.

Commissioner Holt asked if there were concerns with the proposed construction methods.

Mr. Noll stated that there are ways to accomplish the 1 ft. extension safely and effectively.

Commissioner Holt asked what the factors in the turn lane decision were.

Mr. McCabe said that existing and proposed traffic counts were evaluated and compared to national traffic standards and guidelines.  

Commissioner Holt asked if future development was considered in the evaluation.

Mr. McCabe said that without knowing what will be developed in the future, staff would have to consider what was in front of them and address future development when it comes.

Commissioner Personett asked if staff was concerned with the construction technique of adding 1 foot of pavement.

Mr. Noll stated that there are multiple options to achieve safe and reliable extension of the roadway.

Commissioner Personett stated that he is in favor of the rezoning but has reservations about the proposed variances.  He is very concerned about the lack of buffer to the commercial and the lack of sidewalks.  He stated that if sidewalks are not required now, then if development occurs in the future further down the road, there will be a gap in the sidewalk network.

Commissioner Dilts noted that the land to the east is currently for sale.  She is in agreement with Commissioner Personett.

Commissioner Holt stated that he will be voting for the project and is not as concerned with the buffer but was concerned with the road variance.  He noted that there would be a gap at 1043 Route H because that does not have frontage on the developer’s property.

Commissioner Reinier is not in favor of the reduced buffer variance.

Commissioner Howard is not in favor of the reduced buffer variance.

Commissioner Evans is not in favor of the reduced buffer variance.

Chairman Rosekrans stated the road is not as big of an issue as the reduced buffer to him.

Vote: Motion failed 2-7-0
Yes: Holt, Waterman
No: Boswell, Dilts, Evans, Howard, Personett, Reinier, Rosekrans
Abstain: None

Action: Commissioner Personett moved to approve the case with only the variance from road improvements.   Commissioner Dilts seconded the motion.

Vote: Motion passed 9-0-0
Yes: Boswell, Dilts, Evans, Holt, Howard, Personett, Reinier, Rosekrans and Waterman
No: None
Abstain: None
[bookmark: _GoBack]
Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on January 28 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.
	
VII.	Public Comments
There was no public comment.

VIII.	Other Business

a. Ms. Sharp went over the administrative approvals from December: 
i) Lot split for Lots 29 & 30 in the Hills of Oakwood.
ii) Lot split for 1920 & 1912 High Dr.
iii) Final Development Plan for façade renovation for Long John Silvers/A&W at 1175 Elizabeth.
iv) Final Development Plan for an 8,000 sf restaurant, Saltgrass Steak House, in Liberty Commons.
v) Final Development Plan for the Hillside beautification at William Jewell College.

b. Ms. Sharp updated the Commission on current development projects.  
 
IX.	Future Meeting Schedule

The next regular session is scheduled for Tuesday, February 12, at 7:00 p.m. with Dr. Bonnie Johnson, KU professor, for a discussion on staff reports. 

X.	Adjournment
Commissioner Holt moved to adjourn, Commissioner Evans seconded. Chairman Rosekrans adjourned the meeting at 8:25 pm.
	Page 6	
